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PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

PDF SOLUTIONS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(unaudited)

(in thousands, except par value)

September
30,

2014

December
31,

2013
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 116,121 $ 89,371
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $273 and $354, respectively 27,064 34,860
Deferred tax assets - current portion 4,046 5,920
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,169 3,632
Total current assets 150,400 133,783
Property and equipment, net 8,679 7,064
Deferred tax assets - non-current portion 7,590 8,599
Other non-current assets 1,292 1,718
Total assets $ 167,961 $ 151,164
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 992 $ 1,129
Accrued compensation and related benefits 5,181 7,707
Accrued and other current liabilities 1,564 1,593
Deferred revenues 2,637 2,096
Billings in excess of recognized revenues — 343
Total current liabilities 10,374 12,868
Non-current liabilities 3,274 3,584
Total liabilities 13,648 16,452
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.00015 par value, 5,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and
outstanding — —
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Common stock, $0.00015 par value, 70,000 shares authorized: shares issued 36,050 and
35,285, respectively; shares outstanding 30,963 and 30,437, respectively
Additional paid-in-capital 245,807 233,813
Treasury stock at cost, 5,087 and 4,848 shares, respectively (33,326 ) (28,905 )
Accumulated deficit (57,937 ) (70,649 )
Accumulated other comprehensive income (236 ) 448
Total stockholders’ equity 154,313 134,712
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 167,961 $ 151,164

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
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PDF SOLUTIONS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(unaudited)

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Three Months
Ended

September 30,

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Revenues:
Design-to-silicon-yield solutions $10,860 $17,015 $38,871 $46,813
Gainshare performance incentives 11,546 8,474 35,231 27,562
Total revenues 22,406 25,489 74,102 74,375

Costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions:
Direct costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions $9,722 $10,507 $28,273 $29,905
Impairment of deferred costs 1,892 — 1,892 —
Total costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions 11,614 10,507 30,165 29,905
Gross profit 10,792 14,982 43,937 44,470

Operating expenses:
Research and development 3,349 3,396 10,282 9,944
Selling, general and administrative 4,498 3,812 13,487 13,010
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets — 19 31 56
Restructuring charges (credits) — 8 57 (35 )
Total operating expenses 7,847 7,235 23,857 22,975

Income from operations 2,945 7,747 20,080 21,495
Interest and other income (expense), net 33 (283 ) (82 ) (109 )
Income before income taxes 2,978 7,464 19,998 21,386
Income tax provision 1,217 2,640 7,287 7,279
Net income $1,761 $4,824 $12,711 $14,107

Net income per share:
Basic $0.06 $0.16 $0.41 $0.48
Diluted $0.05 $0.15 $0.40 $0.45

Weighted average common shares:
Basic 30,876 30,000 30,648 29,668
Diluted 32,079 31,623 31,975 31,198
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Net income $1,761 $4,824 $12,711 $14,107
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax (542 ) 236 (683 ) 249
Comprehensive income $1,219 $5,060 $12,028 $14,356

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
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PDF SOLUTIONS, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(unaudited)

(in thousands)

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2014 2013

Operating activities:
Net income $12,711 $14,107
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,459 961
Stock-based compensation expense 6,259 4,942
Impairment of deferred costs 1,892 —
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 31 56
Deferred taxes 2,985 4,220
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (93 ) (9 )
Purchases of treasury stock in connection with tax withholdings on restricted stock grants (855 ) (395 )
Reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts (81 ) (82 )
Unrealized gain on foreign currency forward contract 41 —
Tax benefit related to stock-based compensation expense 1,235 454
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation (1,154 ) (439 )
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 7,877 6,021
Prepaid expenses and other assets (1,132 ) (1,106 )
Accounts payable (768 ) (1,261 )
Accrued compensation and related benefits (2,413 ) (3,972 )
Accrued and other liabilities (334 ) (1,293 )
Deferred revenues 501 (796 )
Billings in excess of recognized revenues (343 ) (521 )
Net cash provided by operating activities 27,818 20,887
Investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (3,274 ) (3,372 )
Proceeds from the sales of property and equipment 135 —
Net cash used in investing activities (3,139 ) (3,372 )
Financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 3,062 4,270
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 1,437 1,317
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 1,154 439
Purchases of treasury stock (3,566 ) —
Net cash provided by financing activities 2,087 6,026
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Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (16 ) 55
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 26,750 23,596
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 89,371 61,637
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $116,121 $85,233
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Taxes $3,322 $3,252

Property and equipment received and accrued in accounts payable and accrued and other
liabilities $170 $347

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).

5

Edgar Filing: PDF SOLUTIONS INC - Form 10-Q

9



PDF SOLUTIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Basis of Presentation

The interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared by PDF
Solutions, Inc. (“the Company”) pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”), including the instructions to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Certain
information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America have been condensed or omitted. The interim
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect, in the opinion of management, all adjustments
necessary (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments), to present a fair statement of results for the interim
periods presented. The operating results for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be
expected for other interim periods or the full fiscal year. The accompanying interim unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries after the elimination of all significant intercompany balances and transactions.

The condensed consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2013, has been derived from the audited consolidated
financial statements but does not include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Use of Estimates  —  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates in
these financial statements include revenue recognition for fixed-price solution implementation service contracts,
stock-based compensation expense and accounting for income taxes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Revenue Recognition  — The Company derives revenue from two sources: Design-to-silicon-yield solutions and
Gainshare performance incentives.

Design-to-Silicon-Yield Solutions — Revenue that is derived from Design-to-silicon-yield solutions comes from
services and software licenses. The Company recognizes revenue of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions as follows:

 The Company generates a significant portion of its Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenue from fixed-price
solution implementation service contracts delivered over a specific period of time. These contracts require reliable
estimation of costs to perform obligations and the overall scope of each engagement. Revenue under project–based
contracts for solution implementation services is recognized as services are performed using the cost-to-cost
percentage of completion method of contract accounting. Losses on fixed-price solution implementation contracts are
recognized in the period when they become probable. Revisions in profit estimates are reflected in the period in which
the conditions that require the revisions become known and can be estimated. Revenue under time and materials
contracts for solution implementation services are recognized as the services are performed. On occasion, the
Company licenses its software products as a component of its fixed-price service contracts. In such instances, the
software products are licensed to customers over a specified term of the agreement with support and maintenance to
be provided at each customer's option over the license term. The amount of product and service revenue recognized in
a given period is affected by the Company’s judgment as to whether an arrangement includes multiple deliverables
and, if so, the Company’s determination of the fair value of each deliverable. In general, vendor-specific objective
evidence of selling price (“VSOE”) does not exist for the Company’s solution implementation services and software
products and because the Company’s services and products include our unique technology, the Company is not able to
determine third-party evidence of selling price (“TPE”). Therefore, in such circumstances the Company uses best
estimated selling prices (“BESP”) in the allocation of arrangement consideration. In determining BESP, the Company
applies significant judgment as the Company’s weighs a variety of factors, based on the facts and circumstances of the
arrangement. The Company typically arrives at BESP for a product or service that is not sold separately by
considering company-specific factors such as geographies, internal costs, gross margin objectives, pricing practices
used to establish bundled pricing, and existing portfolio pricing and discounting. After fair value is established for
each deliverable, the total transaction amount is allocated to each deliverable based upon its relative fair value. Fees
allocated to solution implementation services are recognized using the cost-to-cost percentage of completion method
of contract accounting. Fees allocated to software and related support and maintenance are recognized under software
revenue recognition guidance. The Company defers certain precontract costs incurred for specific anticipated
contracts. Deferred costs consist primarily of direct costs to provide solution implementation services in relation to the
specific anticipated contracts. The Company recognizes such costs as a component of cost of revenues, the timing of
which is dependent upon persuasive evidence of contract arrangement assuming all other revenue recognition criteria
are met. At the end of reporting period, the Company evaluates its deferred costs for their probable recoverability. The
Company recognizes impairment of deferred costs when it is determined that the costs no longer have future benefits
and are no longer recoverable.

6
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The Company also licenses its software products separately from its solution implementations. For software license
arrangements that do not require significant modification or customization of the underlying software, software
license revenue is recognized under the residual method when (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
(2) delivery has occurred, (3) the fee is fixed or determinable, (4) collectability is probable, and (5) the arrangement
does not require services that are essential to the functionality of the software. When arrangements include multiple
elements such as support and maintenance, consulting (other than for its fixed price solution implementations),
installation, and training, revenue is allocated to each element of a transaction based upon its fair value as determined
by the Company’s VSOE and such services are recorded as services revenue. VSOE for maintenance is generally
established based upon negotiated renewal rates while VSOE for consulting, installation, and training services is
established based upon the Company’s customary pricing for such services when sold separately. Revenue for software
licenses with extended payment terms is not recognized in excess of amounts due. For software license arrangements
that require significant modification or customization of the underlying software, the software license revenue is
recognized as services are performed using the cost-to-cost percentage of completion method of contract accounting,
and such revenue is recorded as services revenue.

Gainshare Performance Incentives — When the Company enters into a contract to provide yield improvement services,
the contract usually includes two components: (1) a fixed fee for performance by the Company of services delivered
over a specific period of time; and (2) a Gainshare performance incentive component where the customer may pay a
contingent variable fee, usually after the fixed fee period has ended. Revenue derived from Gainshare performance
incentives represents profit sharing and performance incentives earned contingent upon the Company’s customers
reaching certain defined operational levels established in related solution implementation service contracts. Gainshare
performance incentives periods are usually subsequent to the delivery of all contractual services and therefore have no
cost to the Company. Due to the uncertainties surrounding attainment of such operational levels, the Company
recognizes Gainshare performance incentives revenue (to the extent of completion of the related solution
implementation contract) upon receipt of performance reports or other related information from the customer
supporting the determination of amounts and probability of collection.

 2. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued new accounting guidance related to revenue
recognition. The core principle is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration for which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. The updated standard will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance
under GAAP when it becomes effective and permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition
method. Early adoption is not permitted. The updated standard will be effective for the Company beginning January 1,
2017 and can be applied either retrospectively to each period presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the
date of adoption. The Company has not yet selected a transition method and is currently evaluating the impact of
adopting this new accounting standard on its financial statements.
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In August 2014, the FASB issued new guidance related to the disclosures around going concern. The new standard
provides guidance around management's responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an entity's
ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote disclosures. The new standard is effective for
fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is
permitted. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on our financial statements.
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3. BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

Accounts receivable include amounts that are unbilled at the end of the period. Unbilled accounts receivable are
determined on an individual contract basis and were $9.4 million and $8.0 million as of September 30, 2014, and
December 31, 2013, respectively.

Property and equipment consists of (in thousands): 

September
30,

2014

December
31,

2013
Property and equipment, net:
Computer equipment $ 10,033 $ 9,969
Software 3,374 3,441
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 739 734
Leasehold improvements 1,118 1,052
Test equipment 5,693 4,928
Construction-in-progress 2,641 1,421

23,598 21,545
Less: accumulated depreciation (14,919 ) (14,481 )
Total $ 8,679 $ 7,064

Depreciation and amortization expense was $0.5 million and $0.4 million for the three months ended September 30,
2014 and 2013, respectively. Depreciation and amortization expense was $1.5 million and $1.0 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Intangible assets balance was zero and $31,000 as of September 30, 2014, and December 31, 2013, respectively. The
balance was included in other non-current assets in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets. For the
three-months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, intangible asset amortization expense was zero and $19,000,
respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, intangible asset amortization expense was
$31,000 and $56,000, respectively.

Deferred costs balance was $0.1 million and $0.7 million as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013,
respectively. The balance was included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the accompanying condensed
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consolidated balance sheets. During the three months ended September 30, 2014, the Company impaired $1.9 million
of deferred pre-contract costs for two contracts with a customer as it was determined that the costs are no longer
recoverable. The impairment charges were recorded in the impairment of deferred costs in the accompanying
condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

4. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Stock-based compensation is estimated at the grant date based on the award’s fair value and is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the vesting periods, generally four years. Stock-based compensation expenses before taxes
related to the Company’s stock plans and employee stock purchase plan were allocated as follows (in thousands):

Three Months

Ended
September 30,

Nine Months

Ended
September 30,

2014 2013 2014 2013
Cost of Design-to-silicon yield-solutions $947 $812 $2,467 $1,995
Research and development 426 484 1,230 1,143
Selling, general and administrative 853 628 2,562 1,804
Stock-based compensation expenses $2,226 $1,924 $6,259 $4,942

On September 30, 2014, the Company has in effect the following stock-based compensation plans:

Stock Plans — At the annual meeting of stockholders on November 16, 2011, the Company’s stockholders approved
the 2011 Stock Incentive Plan, which was first amended and restated at the 2013 annual meeting of stockholders on
May 28, 2013, when the Company’s stockholders approved the First Amended and Restated 2011 Stock Incentive Plan
and then subsequently amended at the 2014 annual meeting of stockholders on May 27, 2014, when the Company’s
stockholders approved the Second Amended and Restated 2011 Incentive Plan (as amended, the “2011 Plan”). Under
the 2011 Plan, the Company may award stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock grants or stock units covering
shares of the Company's common stock to employees, directors, non-employee directors and contractors. The
aggregate number of shares reserved for awards under this plan is 6,550,000 shares, plus up to 3,500,000 shares
previously issued under the 2001 Plan that are forfeited or repurchased by the Company or shares subject to awards
previously issued under the 2001 Plan that expire or that terminate without having been exercised or settled in full on
or after November 16, 2011. In case of awards other than options or stock appreciation rights, the aggregate number of
shares reserved under the plan will be decreased at a rate of 1.33 shares issued pursuant to such awards. The exercise
price for stock options must generally be at prices no less than the fair market value at the date of grant. Stock options
generally expire ten years from the date of grant and become vested and exercisable over a four-year period.
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 In 2001, the Company adopted a 2001 Stock Plan (the “2001 Plan”). In 2003, in connection with its acquisition of IDS
Systems Inc., the Company assumed IDS’ 2001 Stock Option / Stock Issuance Plan (the “IDS Plan”).  Both of the 2001
and the IDS Plans expired in 2011.  Stock options granted under the 2001 and IDS Plans generally expire ten years
from the date of grant and become vested and exercisable over a four-year period. Although no new awards may be
granted under the 2001 or IDS Plans, awards made under the 2001 and IDS Plans that are currently outstanding
remain subject to the terms of each such plan.

The Company estimated the fair value of share-based awards granted under the Stock Plan during the period using the
Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions, resulting in the
following weighted average fair values: 

Three Months

Ended
September 30,

Nine Months

Ended
September 30,

2014 2013 2014 2013
Expected life (in years) 4.58 4.78 4.58 4.78
Volatility 44.88% 50.30% 43.45% 55.83%
Risk-free interest rate 1.63 % 1.31 % 1.55 % 0.94 %
Expected dividend — — — —
Weighted average fair value per share of options granted during the period $7.54 $9.13 $7.44 $7.55

As of September 30, 2014, 7.0 million shares of common stock were reserved to cover stock-based awards under the
2011 Plan, of which 3.9 million shares were available for future grant. The number of shares reserved and available
under the 2011 Plan includes 0.4 million shares that were subject to awards previously made under the 2001 Plan and
were forfeited, expired or repurchased by the Company after adoption of the 2011 Plan through September 30,
2014.  As of September 30, 2014, there were no outstanding awards that had been granted outside of the 2011, 2001 or
the IDS Plans (collectively, the "Stock Plans"). 

Stock option activity under the Company’s Stock Plans during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, was as
follows:

Number of

Options

(in

thousands)

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Price

Weighted

Average

Remaining

Contractual

Aggregate

Intrinsic

Value

(in
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per Share Term

(years)

thousands)

Outstanding, January 1, 2014 2,880 $ 7.35
Granted (weighted average fair value of $7.44 per share) 19 $ 19.55
Exercised (484 ) $ 6.33
Canceled (33 ) $ 9.82
Expired (6 ) $ 5.91
Outstanding, September 30, 2014 2,376 $ 7.63 5.96 $ 12,428
Vested and expected to vest, September 30, 2014 2,344 $ 7.59 5.93 $ 12,316
Exercisable, September 30, 2014 1,762 $ 7.14 5.41 $ 9,895

9
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The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total intrinsic value based on the Company’s closing
stock price of $12.61 per share as of September 30, 2014. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the nine
months ended September 30, 2014, was $6.5 million.

As of September 30, 2014, there was $2.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock
options. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.5 years. The total fair value of
shares vested during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, was $1.6 million.

Nonvested restricted stock units activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, was as follows:

Shares

(in
thousands)

Weighted

Average

Grant
Date

Fair
Value
Per

Share
Nonvested, January 1, 2014 759 $ 14.44
Granted 560 $ 19.52
Vested (167 ) $ 13.77
Forfeited (25 ) $ 17.99
Nonvested, September 30, 2014 1,127 $ 17.04

As of September 30, 2014, there was $15.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested
restricted stock units. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.8 years.   

Employee Stock Purchase Plan — In July 2001, the Company adopted a ten-year Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as
amended, “Purchase Plan”) under which eligible employees can contribute up to 10% of their compensation, as defined
in the Purchase Plan, towards the purchase of shares of PDF common stock at a price of 85% of the lower of the fair
market value at the beginning of the offering period or the end of the purchase period. The Purchase Plan consists of
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twenty-four-month offering periods with four six-month purchase periods in each offering period. Under the Purchase
Plan, on January 1 of each year, starting with 2002, the number of shares reserved for issuance will automatically
increase by the lesser of (1) 675,000 shares, (2) 2% of the Company’s outstanding common stock on the last day of the
immediately preceding year, or (3) the number of shares determined by the board of directors. At the annual meeting
of stockholders on May 18, 2010, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the Purchase Plan to extend
it through May 17, 2020. 

The Company estimated the fair value of purchase rights granted under the Purchase Plan during the period using the
Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions, resulting in the
following weighted average fair values:

Nine Months

Ended
September 30,
2014 2013

Expected life (in years) 1.25 1.25
Volatility 33.46% 45.29%
Risk-free interest rate 0.21 % 0.19 %
Expected dividend — —
Weighted average fair value of purchase rights granted under the Purchase Plan $6.44 $5.56

During the three months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013,a total of 62,000 and 80,000 shares, respectively, were
issued at a weighted-average purchase price of $13.06 and $9.66 per share,. During the nine months ended September
30, 2014 and 2013, a total of 114,000 and 184,000 shares, respectively, were issued at a weighted-average purchase
price of $12.62 and $7.16 per share, respectively, under the Purchase Plan. For both the three-month periods ended
September 30, 2014 and 2013, the Purchase Plan compensation expense was $0.1 million. For both the nine months
ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, the Purchase Plan compensation expense was $0.5 million. As of September 30,
2014, there was $0.4 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to the Purchase Plan. That cost is expected to
be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.1 years. As of September 30, 2014, 1.2 million shares were
available for future issuance under the Purchase Plan.

10
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Stock Repurchase Program — On November 8, 2012, the Board of Directors adopted a program to repurchase up to
$20.0 million of the Company’s common stock on the open market over the next two years. As of September 30, 2014,
230,311 shares had been repurchased at the average price of $17.56 per share under this program, at a total purchase
of $4.0 million, and $16.0 million remained available for future repurchases. The current program will expire on
November 8, 2014. In anticipation of the expiration of the existing program, on October 21, 2014, the Board of
Directors adopted a new program, effectively immediately, to repurchase up to $25.0 million of the Company’s
common stock both on the open market and in privately negotiated transactions over the next two years.

5. RESTRUCTURING

The Company implemented restructuring plans during fiscal years 2012 and 2008, and recorded total restructuring
charges of zero and $8,000 for the three months ended on September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The Company
recorded total restructuring charges of $57,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and restructuring
credits of $35,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2013. As of September 30, 2014, the Company had no
outstanding restructuring accrual balance.

October 2012 Plan

On October 24, 2012, the Company announced a restructuring plan as part of the Company’s continuing efforts to
simplify the organization, leverage cross-training and learning, and reduce annual operations expenses. Under this
plan, the Company has recorded restructuring charges of $2.2 million, which primarily consisted of employee
severance costs of $2.1 million. All outstanding accrual balance under this plan had been paid out as of June 30, 2014.
The following table summarizes the activities of restructuring liabilities (in thousands) under this plan for the periods
covered below: 

Three
Months

Ended
September
30,

Nine
Months

Ended
September
30,

20142013 2014 2013
Beginning balance $ — $ 66 $13 $896
Restructuring charges — 8 57 67
Cash payments — (25 ) (70) (914)
Ending balance $ — $ 49 $— $49
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October 2008 Plan

On October 28, 2008, the Company announced a restructuring plan to better allocate its resources to improve its
operational results in light of the market conditions. Under this plan, the Company has recorded restructuring charges
of $7.4 million, primarily consisting of employee severance costs of $4.7 million and facility exit costs of $2.7
million. All remaining accrual balance under this plan had been paid out as of December 31, 2013. There were no
restructuring activities incurred under this plan during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014. The
following table summarizes the activities of restructuring liabilities (in thousands) under this plan for the periods
covered below: 

Three
Months

Ended
September
30,

Nine
Months

Ended
September
30,

20142013 20142013
Beginning balance $ —$ 105 $ —$ 448
Restructuring credits — — — (102 )
Adjustments — — — 3
Cash payments — (105 ) — (349 )
Ending balance $ —$ — $ —$ —

6. INCOME TAXES

Income tax provision for both the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 was $7.3 million. The Company’s
effective tax rate was 36.44% and 34.04% for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, and September 30, 2013,
respectively.  The income tax provision for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, was less than the provision at
the statutory rate primarily due to changes in unrecognized tax benefits. The income tax provision for the nine months
ended September 30, 2013 was less than the provision at the statutory rate primarily due to changes in unrecognized
tax benefits and the benefit of the research and development tax credit. 

11
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On January 2, 2013, the President signed into law the American Taxpayer Relief Act which reinstated the U.S.
Federal Research and Development tax credit retroactive to January 1, 2012, and extended the tax credit through
December 31, 2013.  As a result of the new legislation, the Company recognized a benefit in the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 related to 12 months of fiscal 2012 as well as a benefit to the annual effective tax rate for the full
year research tax credit for fiscal 2013, which amounted to $0.4 million. The expiration of the U.S Federal research
tax credit resulted in zero tax credit for the nine months ended September 30, 2014.

The Company’s total amount of unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, as of September 30, 2014,
was $10.2 million, of which $6.2 million, if recognized, would decrease the Company’s effective tax rate. The
Company’s total amount of unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, as of December 31, 2013, was
$10.2 million, of which $6.3 million, if recognized, would affect the Company's effective tax rate. As of September
30, 2014, the Company has recorded unrecognized tax benefits of $2.7 million, including interest and penalties, as
long-term taxes payable in its condensed consolidated balance sheet. The remaining $7.9 million has been recorded
net of our deferred tax assets, of which $4.0 million is subject to a full valuation allowance. 

As of September 30, 2014, the Company believes that most of its deferred tax assets are “more likely than not” to be
realized with the exception of California R&D tax credits that have not met the “more likely than not” realization
threshold criteria because on an annual basis and pursuant to current law, the Company generates more California
credits than California tax. As a result, at September 30, 2014, the excess California R&D tax credits continue to be
subject to a full valuation allowance. In the event the Company concludes at a future financial reporting period that
there has been a change in its ability to realize the California R&D credit deferred tax assets, and it is at such time no
longer “more likely than not” that the Company will realize the tax credits before applicable expiration dates, the
Company’s tax provision will increase in the period in which the Company makes such determination.

The Company conducts business globally and, as a result, files numerous consolidated and separate income tax returns
in the U.S. federal, various state and foreign jurisdictions. Because the Company used some of the tax attributes
carried forward from previous years to tax years that are still open, statutes of limitation remain open for all tax years
to the extent of the attributes carried forward into tax year 2002 for federal and California tax purposes. The Company
is not subject to income tax examinations in any other of its major foreign subsidiaries’ jurisdictions.

7. NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income by weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period (excluding outstanding stock options and shares subject to repurchase). Diluted net
income per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period plus
the potential effect of dilutive securities which are convertible into common shares (using the treasury stock method),
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except in cases in which the effect would be anti-dilutive. Under the treasury stock method, the amount that the
employee must pay for exercising stock options, the amount of compensation cost for future service that the Company
has not yet recognized, and the amount of the tax benefits that would be recorded in additional paid-in capital when
the award becomes deductible are assumed to be used to repurchase shares.  The following is a reconciliation of the
numerators and denominators used in computing basic and diluted net income per share (in thousands except per share
amount): 

Three Months

Ended
September 30,

Nine Months

Ended
September 30,

2014 2013 2014 2013
Numerator:
Net income $1,761 $4,824 $12,711 $14,107
Denominator:
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 30,876 30,000 30,648 29,668
Dilutive effect of equity incentive plans 1,203 1,623 1,327 1,530
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 32,079 31,623 31,975 31,198
Net income per share:
Basic $0.06 $0.16 $0.41 $0.48
Diluted $0.05 $0.15 $0.40 $0.45

12
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The following table sets forth potential shares of common stock that are not included in the diluted net income per
share calculation above because to do so would be anti-dilutive for the periods indicated (in thousands): 

Three
Months

Ended
September
30,

Nine
Months

Ended
September
30,

2014 2013 2014 2013
Outstanding options 34 60 25 48
Nonvested restricted stock units — — — 1
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 30 — 40 —
Total 64 60 65 49

8. CUSTOMER AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available
that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or group, in deciding how to allocate resources and
in assessing performance.

The Company’s chief operating decision maker, the chief executive officer, reviews discrete financial information
presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of regularly making operating decisions and assessing financial
performance. Accordingly, the Company considers itself to be in one operating segment, specifically the licensing and
implementation of yield improvement solutions for companies designing and/or manufacturing integrated circuits. 

The Company had revenues from individual customers in excess of 10% of total revenues as follows:

Three
Months

Ended
September
30,

Nine
Months

Ended
September
30,

Customer 2014 2013 2014 2013
A 56 % 28 % 50 % 31 %
B 13 % 13 % 16 % 17 %
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C 11 % 35 % 12 % 26 %

The Company had gross accounts receivable from the following individual customers in excess of 10% of gross
accounts receivable as follows:

Customer

September
30,

2014

December
31,

2013

A 46 % 36 %
B 24 % 17 %
C 8 % 23 %

Revenues from customers by geographic area based on the location of the customers’ work sites are as follows (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30,
2014 2013

Revenues

Percentage

of

Revenues

Revenues

Percentage

of

Revenues
North America $10,529 47 % $7,686 30 %
Germany 7,913 35 5,140 20
South Korea 1,304 6 8,272 32
Japan 479 2 2,223 9
Rest of Asia 925 4 1,256 5
Rest of Europe 1,256 6 912 4
Total revenue $22,406 100 % $25,489 100 %

13
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Nine Months Ended September 30,
2014 2013

Revenues

Percentage

of

Revenues

Revenues

Percentage

of

Revenues
North America $32,087 43 % $28,367 38 %
Germany 26,046 35 15,006 20
South Korea 4,806 6 16,816 23
Japan 3,408 5 6,445 9
Rest of Asia 3,643 5 4,899 7
Rest of Europe 4,112 6 2,842 3
Total revenue $74,102 100 % $74,375 100 %

Long-lived assets, net by geographic area are as follows (in thousands):

September
30,

2014

December
31,

2013
North America $ 8,120 $ 6,578
Asia 432 364
Europe 127 122
Total long-lived assets, net $ 8,679 $ 7,064

9. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the exit price, or the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants as of the measurement date. The multiple assumptions used to value
financial instruments are referred to as inputs, and a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value is established,
that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most
observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs reflect assumptions market participants would use in
pricing an asset or liability based on market data obtained from independent sources while unobservable inputs reflect
a reporting entity’s pricing based upon its own market assumptions. These inputs are ranked according to a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels.

Level
1 -  Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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Level
2 -

Inputs are quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market, quoted prices for identical or similar
assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable and
market-corroborated inputs which are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data.

Level
3 -

Inputs are derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or value drivers are
unobservable.

The following table represents the Company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30,
2014, and the basis for that measurement (in thousands):

Assets Total

Quoted

Prices

in

Active

Markets

for

Identical

Assets

(Level 1)

Significant

Other

Observable

Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

(Level 3)

Money market mutual funds $26,355 $ 26,355 $ — $ —
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The following table represents the Company’s assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31,
2013, and the basis for that measurement (in thousands):

Assets Total

Quoted

Prices

in

Active

Markets

for

Identical

Assets

(Level 1)

Significant

Other

Observable

Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

(Level 3)

Money market mutual funds $26,353 $ 26,353 $ — $ —

The Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts to reduce the exposure to foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations on certain foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities, primarily on third-party accounts
payables and intercompany balances. The primary objective of the Company’s hedging program is to reduce volatility
of earnings related to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. The counterparty to these foreign currency forward
contracts is a large global financial institution that the Company believes is creditworthy, and therefore, the Company
believes the credit risk of counterparty nonperformance is not significant. These foreign currency forward contracts
are not designated for hedge accounting treatment. Therefore, the change in fair value of these contracts is recorded
into earnings as a component of other income (expense), net, and offsets the change in fair value of the foreign
currency denominated assets and liabilities, which is also recorded in other income (expense), net. For the three
months and nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company recognized a realized loss on the contracts of $0.5
million and $0.6 million, respectively, which was recorded in other income (expense), net in the Company’s Statement
of Operations and Comprehensive Income. 

The Company carries these derivatives financial instruments on its Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fair values.
The Company’s foreign currency forward contracts are classified as Level 2 because it is not actively traded and the
valuation inputs are based on quoted prices and market observable data of similar instruments. As of September 30,
2014, the Company had one outstanding forward contract with a notional amount of $6.7 million and recorded
$41,000 other current liabilities associated with this outstanding forward contract.  
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10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases

The Company leases administrative and sales offices and certain equipment under noncancelable operating leases,
which contain various renewal options and, in some cases, require payment of common area costs, taxes and utilities.
These operating leases expire at various times through 2019. Rent expense was both $0.5 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2014 and 2013. Rent expense was $1.5 million for both the nine months ended September 30,
2014 and 2013.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases at September 30, 2014, are as follows (in
thousands): 

Year Ending December 31, Amount
2014 (remaining three months) $ 468
2015 1,773
2016 1,713
2017 1,409
2018 797
Thereafter 61
Total future minimum lease payments $ 6,221

15
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Litigation — From time to time, the Company is subject to various claims and legal proceedings that arise in the
ordinary course of business. The Company accrues for losses related to litigation when a potential loss is probable and
the loss can be reasonably estimated in accordance with FASB requirements. During the reported period, the
Company was not party to any material legal proceedings, thus no loss was probable and no amount was accrued at
September 30, 2014.  

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations contains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “could,” “should,” “expect,”
“plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential”, “target” or “continue,” the negative effect of terms like these or other
similar expressions. Any statement concerning future financial performance (including future revenues, earnings or
growth rates), ongoing business strategies or prospects, and possible actions taken by us or our subsidiaries, which
may be provided by us are also forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are only predictions.
Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and projections about future events and are inherently
subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control, which could cause actual results
to differ materially from those anticipated or projected. All forward-looking statements included in this document are
based on information available to us on the date of filing and we further caution investors that our business and
financial performance are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties. We assume no obligation to update any such
forward-looking statements. In evaluating these statements, you should specifically consider various factors, including
the risk factors set forth in Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. All references to “we”, “us”, “our”, “PDF”, “PDF
Solutions” or “the Company” refer to PDF Solutions, Inc.

Overview

We analyze our customers’ IC design and manufacturing processes to identify, quantify, and correct the issues that
cause yield loss to improve our customers’ profitability by improving time-to-market, increasing yield and reducing
total design and manufacturing costs. We package our solutions in various ways to meet our customers’ specific
business and budgetary needs, each of which provides us various revenue streams. We receive a mix of fixed fees and
variable, performance-based fees for the vast majority of our yield improvement solutions. The fixed fees are typically
reflective of the length of time and the resources needed to characterize a customer’s manufacturing process and
receive preliminary results of proposed yield improvement suggestions. The variable fee, or what we call Gainshare,
usually depends on our achieving certain yield targets by a deadline.  Variable fees are currently typically tied to wafer
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volume on the node size of the manufacturing facility where we performed the yield improvement solutions. We
receive license fees and service fees for related installation, integration, training, and maintenance and support
services for our software that we license on a stand-alone basis.

Industry Trend

Consistent with the trend since 2010, we believe that the largest logic foundries will continue to increase their
investment in leading edge nodes and capacity in 2014. Leading foundries are also investing in new technologies such
as multi-patterned lithography and 3-D transistor architecture, which has resulted in an increase in our business, and
improved results of operations in the past few years.

Generally, the demand for consumer electronics and communications devices continues to drive technological
innovation in the semiconductor industry as the need for products with greater performance, lower power
consumption, reduced costs and smaller size continues to grow with each new product generation. In addition,
advances in computing systems and mobile devices have fueled demand for higher capacity memory chips. To meet
these demands, IC manufacturers and designers are constantly challenged to improve the overall performance of their
ICs by designing and manufacturing ICs with more embedded applications to create greater functionality while
lowering cost per transistor. As a result, both logic and memory manufacturers have migrated to more and more
advanced manufacturing nodes, capable of integrating more devices with higher performance, higher density, and
lower power. As this trend continues, companies will continually be challenged to improve process capabilities to
optimally produce ICs with minimal random and systematic yield loss, which is driven by the lack of compatibility
between the design and its respective manufacturing process. We believe that as volume production of deep
submicron ICs continues to grow, the difficulties of integrating IC designs with their respective processes and ramping
new manufacturing processes will create a greater need for products and services that address the yield loss and
escalating cost issues the semiconductor industry is facing today and will face in the future.

16
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Customer Contracts

Although a substantial portion of our total revenues are concentrated in a small number of customers, the total
revenues for each of these customers in any period is the result of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions and Gainshare
performance incentives revenues recognized in the period under multiple, separate contracts, with no interdependent
performance obligations. These contracts were all entered into in the ordinary course of our business and contain
general terms and conditions that are standard across most of our yield improvement solutions customers, including
providing services typically targeted to one manufacturing process node, for example the 28 or 20 nanometer node.
Fluctuations in future results may occur if any of these customers renegotiate pre-existing contractual commitments
due to adverse changes in their own business or, in the case of one time and materials contract, if the customer takes
advantage of contractual provisions that permit the suspension of contracted work for a period if their business
experiences a financial hardship. See the additional discussion in Part I, Item 1, "Customers," on page 8 of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, and in Item 1A, "Risk Factors," on pages 28 through 35
of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for related information on the risks associated with customer concentration and
Gainshare performance incentives revenue.

As announced on September 29, 2014, we were unable to close two Design-to-silicon-yield solutions contracts with
one of our largest customers, which impacted our ability to book revenue relating to preliminary work on these
projects and the need to recognize previously deferred costs. Based on this change in status, we impaired $1.9 million
of deferred pre-contract costs for these contracts related to the services, technology, and intellectual property that we
had provided to date in connection with these contracts, as it was determined that the costs are no longer
recoverable. Additionally, as a result of these contracts not signing, we expect year over year total revenues to be
approximately flat.

Financial Highlights

Financial highlights for the three months ended September 30, 2014, were as follows:

•

Total revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2014, were $22.4 million, a decrease of $3.1 million, or
12%, compared to $25.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013. Design-to-silicon-yield solutions
revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2014, was $10.9 million, a decrease of $6.1 million, or 36%,
when compared to Design-to-silicon yield solutions revenue of $17.0 million for the three months ended September
30, 2013. The decrease in Design-to-silicon yield solutions revenue was primarily the result of wind down of several
28nm engagements not being fully offset yet by the ramp up of newer 20nm and 14nm engagements. Gainshare
performance incentives revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2014, was $11.5 million, an increase of
$3.0 million, or 36%, compared to $8.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013. The increase in
revenue from Gainshare performance incentives was primarily the result of higher wafer volumes at customers’
manufacturing facilities.
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•

Net income for the three months ended September 30, 2014, was $1.8 million, compared to $4.8 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2013. The decrease in net income was primarily attributable to a decrease in
gross margin of $4.2 million, an increase of total operating expenses of $0.6 million, offset by an increase of
interest and other income of $0.3 million, and a decrease in income tax provision of $1.4 million. The decrease in
gross margin of $4.2 million is primarily due to a decrease in total revenues not fully offset by a corresponding
decrease in direct cost of design-to-silicon yield solutions, resulting in a $2.3 million decrease in gross margin, and
an impairment of deferred costs of $1.9 million during the quarter relating to the two contracts with a customer.

•
Net income per basic and diluted share was $0.06 and $0.05, respectively, for the three months ended September
30, 2014, compared to net income per basic and diluted share of $0.16 and $0.15, respectively, for the three months
ended September 30, 2013.

•Cash and cash equivalents increased $26.7 million from $89.4 million at December 31, 2013, to $116.1 million at
September 30, 2014, primarily due to an increase in cash from operating and financing activities during the period.

Financial highlights for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, were as follows:

•

Total revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, were $74.1 million, an decrease of $0.3 million, or
0.4%, compared to $74.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013. Design-to-silicon-yield solutions
revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, was $38.9 million, a decrease of $7.9 million, or 17%, when
compared to Design-to-silicon yield solutions revenue of $46.8 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2013. Gainshare performance incentives revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, was $35.2 million,
an increase of $7.6 million, or 28%, compared to $27.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013. The
increase in revenue from Gainshare performance incentives was primarily the result of higher wafer volumes at
customers’ manufacturing facilities. 
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•

Net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, was $12.7 million, compared to $14.1 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2013. The decrease in net income of $1.4 million was primarily attributable to an
decrease in gross margin of $0.5 million, and an increase of total operating expenses of $0.9 million. The decrease
in gross margin is primarily due to lower total revenues and higher cost of design-to-silicon yield solutions during
the period.  

•
Net income per basic and diluted share was $0.41 and $0.40, respectively, for the nine months ended September 30,
2014 compared to net income per basic and diluted share of $0.48 and $0.45, respectively, for the nine months
ended September 30, 2013, a decrease of $0.07 and $0.05 per basic and diluted share, respectively.

Critical Accounting Policies

There were no significant changes in our critical accounting policies. Please refer to Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013. The following is a brief discussion of the more significant accounting
policies and methods that we use.

General

Our discussion and analysis of our financial conditions, results of operations and cash flows are based on our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Our preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting periods. We based our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. The most significant estimates and assumptions relate to revenue
recognition, stock-based compensation and the realization of deferred tax assets. Actual amounts may differ from such
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Revenue Recognition

We derive revenue from two sources: Design-to-silicon-yield solutions, which include services and software licenses,
and Gainshare performance incentives.
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Design-to-Silicon-Yield Solutions — Revenue that is derived from Design-to-silicon-yield solutions comes from
services and software licenses. We recognize revenue for Design-to-silicon-yield solutions as follows:

We generate a significant portion of our Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenue from fixed-price solution
implementation service contracts delivered over a specific period of time. These contracts require reliable estimation
of costs to perform obligations and the overall scope of each engagement. Revenue under project–based contracts for
solution implementation services is recognized as services are performed using the cost-to-cost percentage of
completion method of contract accounting. Losses on solution implementation contracts are recognized in the period
when they become probable. Revisions in profit estimates are reflected in the period in which the conditions that
require the revisions become known and can be estimated. If we do not accurately estimate the resources required or
the scope of work to be performed, or do not manage the projects properly within the planned period of time or satisfy
our obligations under contracts, resulting contract margins could be materially different than those anticipated when
the contracts were executed. Any such reductions in contract margin could have a material negative impact on our
operating results.  Revenue under certain time and materials contracts for solution implementation services is
recognized as the services are performed. On occasion, we license our software products as a component of our fixed
price service contracts. In such instances, the software products are licensed to customers over a specified term of the
agreement with support and maintenance to be provided at each customer's option over the license term. The amount
of product and service revenue recognized in a given period is affected by our judgment as to whether an arrangement
includes multiple deliverables and, if so, our determination of the fair value of each deliverable. In general,
vendor-specific objective evidence of selling price (“VSOE”)  does not exist for our solution implementation services
and software products and because our services and products include our unique technology, we are not able to
determine third-party evidence of selling price (“TPE”). Therefore, in such circumstances, we use best estimated selling
prices (“BESP”) in our allocation of arrangement consideration. In determining BESP, we apply significant judgment as
we weigh a variety of factors, based on the facts and circumstances of the arrangement. We typically arrive at BESP
for a product or service that is not sold separately by considering company-specific factors such as geographies,
internal costs, gross margin objectives, pricing practices used to establish bundled pricing, and existing portfolio
pricing and discounting. After fair value is established for each deliverable, the total transaction amount is allocated to
each deliverable based upon its relative fair value. Fees allocated to solution implementation services are recognized
using the cost-to-cost percentage of completion method of contract accounting. Fees allocated to software and related
support and maintenance are recognized under software revenue recognition guidance.  We also license our software
products separately from our solution implementation services. For software license arrangements that do not require
significant modification or customization of the underlying software, software license revenue is recognized under the
residual method when (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) delivery has occurred, (3) the fee is fixed
or determinable, (4) collectability is probable, and (5) the arrangement does not require services that are essential to
the functionality of the software. When arrangements include multiple elements such as support and maintenance,
consulting (other than for our fixed price solution implementations), installation, and training, revenue is allocated to
each element of a transaction based upon its fair value as determined by our VSOE and such services are recorded as
services revenues. VSOE for maintenance is generally established based upon negotiated renewal rates while VSOE
for consulting, installation, and training services is established based upon our customary pricing for such services
when sold separately. Revenues for software licenses with extended payment terms are not recognized in excess of
amounts due. For software license arrangements that require significant modification or customization of the
underlying software, the software license revenues are recognized as services are performed using the cost-to-cost
percentage of completion method of contract accounting, and such revenues are recorded as services revenue. We
defer certain precontract costs incurred for specific anticipated contracts. Deferred costs consist primarily of direct
costs to provide solution implementation services in relation to the specific anticipated contracts. We recognize such
costs as a component of cost of revenues, the timing of which is dependent upon the revenue recognition policy by
contract. At the end of reporting period, we evaluate our deferred costs for their probable recoverability. We recognize
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impairment of deferred costs when it is determined that the costs no longer have future benefits and are no longer
recoverable.
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Gainshare Performance Incentives  — When we enter into a contract to provide yield improvement services, the contract
usually includes two components: (1) a fixed fee for performance by us of services delivered over a specific period of
time; and (2) a Gainshare performance incentives component where the customer may pay a contingent variable fee,
usually after the fixed fee period has ended. Revenues derived from Gainshare performance incentives represent profit
sharing and performance incentives earned contingent upon our customers reaching certain defined operational levels
established in related solution implementation service contracts. Gainshare performance incentives periods are usually
subsequent to the delivery of all contractual services and therefore have no cost to us. Due to the uncertainties
surrounding attainment of such operational levels, we recognize Gainshare performance incentives revenues (to the
extent of completion of the related solution implementation services) upon receipt of performance reports or other
related information from our customers supporting the determination of amounts and probability of collection.
Gainshare performance incentives revenue is dependent on many factors which are outside our control, which
can include among others, continued production of the related ICs by our customers, sustained yield improvements by
our customers, and our ability to enter into new Design-to-silicon-yield solutions contracts containing provisions for
Gainshare performance incentives.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation is estimated at the grant date based on the award’s fair value and is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the vesting periods, generally four years. As stock-based compensation expense recognized is
based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures are estimated at
the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

We have elected to use the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model, which incorporates various assumptions
including volatility, expected life and interest rates. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of our
common stock over the most recent period commensurate with the estimated expected life of stock options. The
expected life of an award is based on historical experience and on the terms and conditions of the stock awards
granted to employees. The interest rate assumption is based upon observed Treasury yield curve rates appropriate for
the expected life of stock options.
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Income Taxes

We are required to assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and
if we believe that they are not likely to be realizable before the expiration dates applicable to such assets then, to the
extent we believe that recovery is not likely, establish a valuation allowance. Changes in the net deferred tax assets,
less offsetting valuation allowance, in a period are recorded through the income tax provision in the condensed
consolidated statements of operations. As of September 30, 2014, we believe that most of our deferred tax assets are
“more likely than not” to be realized with the exception of  California R&D tax credits that have not met the “more likely
than not” realization threshold criteria because on an annual basis and pursuant to current law, we generate more
California credits than California tax. As a result, at September 30, 2014, the excess California R&D tax credits
continue to be subject to a full valuation allowance. See Note 6 to the condensed consolidated financial statements for
further disclosures regarding our income taxes. In the event we conclude at a future financial reporting period that
there has been a change in our ability to realize our California R&D credit deferred tax assets, and it is at such time no
longer “more likely than not” that we will realize the tax credits before applicable expiration dates, our tax provision
will increase in the period in which we make such determination.

Our income tax calculations are based on application of the respective U.S. federal, state or foreign tax law. Our tax
filings, however, are subject to audit by the respective tax authorities. Accordingly, we recognize tax liabilities based
upon our estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due when such estimates are
more-likely-than-not to be sustained. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50%
likelihood of being sustained. To the extent the final tax liabilities are different than the amounts originally accrued,
the increases or decreases are recorded as income tax expense or benefit in the consolidated statements of operations. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements and Accounting Changes

See Note 2 of “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)” of this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for a description of recent accounting pronouncements and accounting changes, including the expected dates of
adoption and estimated effects, if any, on our consolidated financial statements.  

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage of total revenues represented by the line items
reflected in our condensed consolidated statements of operations: 
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Three
Months
Ended

September
30,

Nine
Months
Ended

September
30,

2014 2013 2014 2013
Revenues
Design-to-silicon-yield solutions 48 % 67 % 52 % 63 %
Gainshare performance incentives 52 33 48 37
Total revenues 100% 100 % 100% 100 %

Costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions
Direct costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions 44 41 38 40
Impairment of deferred costs 8 — 3 —

Total costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions 52 41 41 40

Gross Profit 48 59 59 60
Operating expenses
Research and development 15 13 14 13
Selling, general and administrative 20 15 18 18
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets — — — —
Restructuring charges (credits) — — — —
Total operating expenses 35 28 32 31
Income from operations 13 31 27 29
Interest and other income (expense), net — (1 ) — —
Income before taxes 13 30 27 29
Income tax provision 5 11 10 10
Net income 8 % 19 % 17 % 19 %
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Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
$ %

Revenues 2014 2013 Change Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Design-to-silicon-yield solutions $10,860 $17,015 $(6,155 ) (36 )%
Gainshare performance incentives 11,546 8,474 3,072 36 %
Total revenues $22,406 $25,489 $(3,083 ) (12 )%

Design-to-silicon-yield solutions. Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenue is derived from services (including
solution implementations, software support and maintenance, consulting, and training) and software licenses, provided
during our customer yield improvement engagements as well as during solution product sales.  Design-to-silicon-yield
solutions revenue decreased $6.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the three
months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due the result of the wind down of several 28nm engagements not being
fully offset yet by the ramp up of newer 20nm and 14nm engagements. Our Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenue
may fluctuate in the future and is dependent on a number of factors, including the semiconductor industry’s continued
acceptance of our solutions, the timing of purchases by existing customers, and our ability to attract new customers
and penetrate new markets including photovoltaic and LED, and further penetration of our current customer base.
Fluctuations in future results may also occur if any of our significant customers renegotiate pre-existing contractual
commitments due to adverse changes in their own business or, in the case of a time and materials contract, may take
advantage of contractual provisions that permit the suspension of contracted work for a period if their business
experiences a financial hardship.

Gainshare Performance Incentives. Gainshare performance incentives revenues represent profit sharing and
performance incentives earned contingent upon our customers reaching certain defined operational levels. Revenue
derived from Gainshare performance incentives increased $3.1 million for the three months ended September 30,
2014, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2013.  The increase was primarily the result of higher wafer
volumes at customers’ manufacturing facilities. Our Gainshare performance incentives revenue may continue to
fluctuate from period to period. Gainshare performance incentives revenue is dependent on many factors that are
outside our control, including among others, continued production of ICs by our customers at facilities at which we
generate gainshare, sustained yield improvements by our customers, and our ability to enter into new
Design-to-silicon-yield solutions contracts containing provisions for Gainshare performance incentives.  

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
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$ %
Costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions 2014 2013 Change Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Direct costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions $9,722 $10,507 $ (785 ) (7 )%
Impairment of deferred costs 1,892 — 1,892 — %
Total costs of Design-to-silicon-yield Solutions $11,614 $10,507 $ 1,107 11 %

Costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions. Costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions consist of costs incurred to
provide and support our services and costs recognized in connection with licensing our software. Services costs
consist of material, employee compensation and related benefits, overhead costs, travel and facilities-related costs.
Software license costs consist of costs associated with licensing third-party software sold in conjunction with our
software products. Direct costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions for the three months ended September 30, 2014
decreased $0.8 million compared to the three months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to $1.0 million net
change in deferred cost related timing of completion of the contract signature process, offset by a $0.1 million
increase in travel cost and a $0.1 million increase in depreciation expense for our tester equipment. During the three
months ended September 30, 2014, the Company impaired $1.9 million of deferred pre-contract costs for two
contracts with a customer as it was determined that the costs are no longer recoverable. The direct costs of
Design-to-silicon-yield solutions as a percentage of revenues during the three months ended September 30, 2014 was
52% compared to 41% in the three months ended September 30, 2013. The increase in direct costs of
Design-to-silicon-yield solutions as a percentage of revenue was primarily driven by the recognition of impaired
deferred costs of $1.9 million and the lack of current period deferral of costs related to the same two contracts of
approximately $0.9 million.
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Three Months
Ended

September 30,

$ %

Research and Development 2014 2013 Change Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Research and development $3,349 $3,396 $ (47 ) (1 )%

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs to
support product development activities, including compensation and benefits, outside development services, travel and
facilities cost allocations, and stock-based compensation charges. Research and development expenses were relatively
flat for the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2013. We
anticipate our expenses in research and development will fluctuate in absolute dollars from period to period as a result
of cost control initiatives and the timing of when we hire personnel as a result of the size and the timing of product
development projects. 

Three Months
Ended

September 30,

$ %

Selling, General and Administrative 2014 2013 Change Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Selling, general and administrative $4,498 $3,812 $ 686 18 %

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation
and benefits for sales, marketing and general and administrative personnel, legal and accounting services, marketing
communications, travel and facilities cost allocations, and stock-based compensation charges. Selling, general and
administrative expenses increased $0.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014, compared to the three
months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to a $0.4 million increase in legal and accounting expense due to
increased activities, and a $0.3 million increase in personnel-related expense primarily driven by an increase in
stock-based compensation expense due to higher fair value per share for the grants awarded during the current year
and higher level of grants as compared to the prior year. We anticipate our selling, general and administrative
expenses will fluctuate in absolute dollars from period to period as a result of cost control initiatives and to support
increased selling efforts in the future.  

Three
Months
Ended

September
30,

$ %

Amortization of Other Acquired Intangible Assets 2014 2013 Change Change
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(in thousands, except for percentages)
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets $ — $ 19 $ (19 ) (100 )%

Amortization of Other Acquired Intangible Assets. Amortization of other acquired intangible assets consists of
amortization of intangibles acquired as a result of certain business combinations. Amortization of other acquired
intangible assets for the three months ended September 30, 2014, decreased $19,000 compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2013. Our intangible balance was fully amortized as of September 30, 2014.

Three
Months
Ended

September
30,

$ %

Restructuring Charges (credits) 2014 2013 Change Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Restructuring charges (credits) $ — $ 8 $ (8 ) (100 )%
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Restructuring Charges (credits).  No restructuring charges recorded during the three months ended September 30,
2014. Restructuring charges for the three months ended September 30, 2013 were not significant.

Three
Months
Ended

September
30,

$ %

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net 2014 2013 Change Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Interest and other income (expense), net $33 $(283) $ 316 (112 )%

Interest and Other Income (expense), net.  Interest and other income (expense), net increased $316,000 for the three
months ended September 30, 2014 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2013. During the three months
ended September 30, 2014, the gains related to foreign currency exposure were not significant. During the three
months ended September 30, 2013, we recorded $0.3 million of losses on foreign currency exchange, primarily related
to Euro to U.S Dollar exchange rate. We anticipate interest and other income (expense) will fluctuate in future periods
as a result of our projected use of cash and fluctuations of foreign exchange rates.

Three Months
Ended

September 30,

$ %

Income Tax Provision 2014 2013 Change Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Income tax provision $1,217 $2,640 $(1,423 ) 54 %

Income Tax Provision. Income tax provision decreased $1.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2014,
compared to three months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to an decrease in level of income. The income tax
provision for the three months ended September 30, 2014, was less than the provision at the statutory rate primarily
due to changes in unrecognized tax benefits. The income tax provision for the three months ended September 30,
2013, was less than the provision at the statutory rate primarily due to the utilization of U.S tax credits, offset by
foreign withholding taxes, statutory taxes, and changes in unrecognized tax benefits.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014 and 2013

$ %
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Nine Months
Ended
September 30,

Revenues 2014 2013 Change Change
(In thousands, except for percentages)
Design-to-silicon-yield solutions $38,871 $46,813 $(7,942 ) (17 )%
Gainshare performance incentives 35,231 27,562 7,669 28 %
Total $74,102 $74,375 $(273 ) —

Design-to-silicon-yield solutions. Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenue decreased $7.9 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2014, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to the result of the
wind down of several 28nm engagements not being fully offset yet by the ramp up of newer 20nm and 14nm
engagements. Our Design-to-silicon-yield solutions revenue may fluctuate in the future and are dependent on a
number of factors, including the semiconductor industry’s continued acceptance of our solutions, the timing of
purchases by existing customers, and our ability to attract new customers and penetrate new markets including
photovoltaic and LED, and further penetration of our current customer base. Fluctuations in future results may also
occur if any of our significant customers renegotiate pre-existing contractual commitments due to adverse changes in
their own businesses or, in the case of a time and materials contract, may take advantage of contractual provisions that
permit the suspension of contracted work for a period if their business experiences a financial hardship. 

Gainshare Performance Incentives. Revenue derived from gainshare performance incentives increased $7.7 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2013.  The increase
was primarily the result of higher wafer volumes at customers’ manufacturing facilities. Our gainshare performance
incentives revenue may continue to fluctuate from period to period. Gainshare performance incentives revenue is
dependent on many factors that are outside our control, including among others, continued production of ICs by our
customers at facilities at which we generate gainshare, sustained yield improvements by our customers, and our ability
to enter into new Design-to-silicon-yield solutions contracts containing provisions for gainshare performance
incentives.
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Nine Months
Ended

September 30,

$ % 

Costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions 2014 2013 Change Change
(in thousands, except for percentages)
Direct costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions $28,273 $29,905 $(1,632 ) (5 )%
Impairment of deferred costs 1,892 — 1,892 — %
Total costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions $30,165 $29,905 $260 1 %

Costs of Design-to-Silicon-Yield Solutions.   Total costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions for the nine months ended
September 30, 2014 increased $0.3 million compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to
the impairment of deferred costs, partially offset by a decrease in direct costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions due
to lower revenues.

Direct costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 decreased $1.6 million
compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to higher cost recorded during the nine months
ended September 30, 2013, which was due to net change in deferred costs of $2.0 million related timing of completion
of the contract signature process, a $0.2 million decrease in subcontractor cost, offset by a $0.3 million increase in
travel cost and a $0.3 million increase in depreciation expense for our tester equipment. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2014, the Company impaired $1.9 million of deferred pre-contract costs for two contracts with a
customer as it was determined that the costs are no longer recoverable. The direct costs of Design-to-silicon-yield
solutions as a percentage of revenues during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was 41% compared to 40% in
the nine months ended September 30, 2013. The increase in Direct costs of Design-to-silicon-yield solutions as a
percentage of revenue was primarily driven by the recognition of impaired deferred costs of $1.9 million.

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,

$ %

Research and Development 2014 2013 Change Change
(In thousands, except for percentages)
Research and development $10,282 $9,944 $ 338 3 %

Research and Development. Research and development expenses increased $0.3 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2014 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to a $0.2 million increase
in facility expense and a $0.1 million increase in subcontractor expense. We anticipate our expenses in research and
development will fluctuate in absolute dollars from period to period as a result of cost control initiatives and the
timing of when we hire personnel as a result of the size and the timing of product development projects and revenue
generating activity requirements.
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Nine Months
Ended

September 30,

$ %

Selling, General and Administrative 2014 2013 Change Change
(In thousands, except for percentages)
Selling, general and administrative $13,487 $13,010 $ 477 4 %

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $0.5 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2014 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to a $0.6
million increase in personnel-related expense primarily driven by higher stock-based compensation expense, a result
of the impact of accelerated vesting of awards previously granted to our exiting board members and higher fair value
per share for the grants awarded during the current year as compared to prior year, a $0.3 million increase in legal
expense, offset a $0.4 million decrease in subcontractor expense. We anticipate our selling, general and administrative
expenses will fluctuate in absolute dollars from period to period as a result of cost control initiatives and to support
increased selling efforts in the future.  
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Nine
Months
Ended

September
30,

$ %

Amortization of Other Acquired Intangible Assets 2014 2013 Change Change
(In thousands, except for percentages)
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets $ 31 $ 56 $ (25 ) (45 )%

Amortization of Other Acquired Intangible Assets. Amortization of other acquired intangible assets slightly decreased
for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2013 due to all
acquired intangible assets were fully amortized during the nine months ended September 30, 2014.

Nine
Months
Ended

September
30,

$ %

Restructuring Charges (Credits) 2014 2013 Change Change
(In thousands, except for percentages)
Restructuring charges (credits) $57 $(35 ) $ 92 (263 )%

Restructuring Charges (Credits).   For the nine months ended September 30, 2014, we recorded restructuring charges
of $57,000, which represented severance charges related to the October 2012 Plan. For the nine months ended
September 30, 2013, we recorded restructuring credits of $35,000, which were primarily due to the change in
estimate.

Nine
Months
Ended

September
30,

$ %

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net 2014 2013 Change Change
(In thousands, except for percentages)
Interest and other income (expense), net $(82) $(109) $ 27 (25 )%
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Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net.  Interest and other income (expense) was relatively flat for the nine months
ended September 30, 2014 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2013. We anticipate interest and other
income (expense), net will fluctuate in future periods as a result of our projected use of cash and fluctuations of
foreign exchange rates.

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,

$ %

Income Tax Provision 2014 2013 Change Change
(In thousands, except for percentages)
Income tax provision $7,287 $7,279 $ 8 - %

Income Tax Provision. Income tax provision was relatively flat for the nine months ended September 30, 2014
compared to nine months ended September 30, 2013. The income tax provision for the nine months ended September
30, 2014 was less than the provision at the statutory rate primarily due to changes in unrecognized tax benefits. The
income tax provision for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was less than the provision at the statutory rate
primarily due to changes in unrecognized tax benefits and the benefit of the research and development tax credit.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Operating Activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities was $27.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014. This
resulted from net income of $12.7 million, the addition of $9.8 million from non-cash charges and cash increase of
$5.3 million reflected in the net change of operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges consisted primarily of
stock-based compensation of $6.3 million, deferred taxes of $3.0 million, tax benefit related to stock-based
compensation plan of $1.2 million, depreciation and amortization of $1.5 million, partially offset by excess tax benefit
from stock-based compensation of $1.2 million, purchases of treasury stock in connection with tax withholdings on
restricted stock grants of $0.9 million and gain on disposal of property and equipment of $0.1 million. Cash flow
increases resulting from the net change in operating assets and liabilities primarily consisted of $7.9 million decrease
in accounts receivable, primarily driven by strong collections, $0.2 million net increase in deferred revenue and billing
in excess of recognized revenue, $0.8 million increase in prepaid expense and other assets due to timing of
prepayment of third party software cost, offset by $0.8 million decrease in accounts payable, $2.4 million decrease in
accrued compensation and related benefits, driven by the payment of variable compensation during the period, and
$0.4 million decrease in accrued and other liabilities. The $8.0 million combined cash flow increase resulting from the
decrease in accounts receivable, the increase in deferred revenue and the decrease in billings in excess of recognized
revenues was primarily due to the timing of billing milestones and payments received.  
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Cash flows provided by operating activities was $20.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013. This
resulted from net income of $14.1 million, the addition of $9.7 million from non-cash charges, offset by the cash
decrease of $2.9 million reflected in the net change of operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges consisted
primarily of stock-based compensation of $4.9 million, deferred taxes of $4.2 million, depreciation and amortization
of $1.0 million, tax benefit related to stock-based compensation plan of $0.5 million, partially offset by purchases of
treasury stock in connection with tax withholdings on restricted stock grants of $0.4 million, reversal of doubtful
accounts of $0.1 million and excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation of $0.4 million. Cash flow decreases
resulting from the net change in operating assets and liabilities primarily consisted of $0.4 million decrease in accrued
compensation and related benefits, $1.3 million decrease in accounts payable, $1.3 million decrease in accrued and
other liabilities, $1.1 million decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets, $0.8 million decrease in deferred revenues
and $0.5 million decrease in billings in excess of recognized revenues, offset by $6.0 million decrease in accounts
receivable. The $4.7 million combined cash flow increase resulted from the decrease in accounts receivable, the
decrease in deferred revenue and the decrease in billings in excess of recognized revenues was primarily due to the
timing of billing milestones and payments received. 

Investing Activities

Cash flows used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 of $3.1 million consisted of
$3.2 million payment for capital expenditures, primarily test equipment, offset by proceeds from the sales of property
and equipment of $0.1 million.

Cash flows used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 of $3.4 million consisted of
payment for capital expenditures, primarily test equipment.  

Financing Activities

      Cash flows provided by financing activities of $2.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2014,
consisted primarily of $3.1 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options, $1.4 million of proceeds from our
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, $1.2 million of excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation, offset by $3.6
million of cash used to repurchase shares of our common stock.

     Cash flows provided by financing activities of $6.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013
consisted primarily of $4.3 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options, $1.3 million of proceeds from our
Employee Stock Purchase Plan and $0.4 million of excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation.  
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Liquidity

As of September 30, 2014, our working capital, defined as total current assets less total current liabilities, was $140.0
million, compared with $120.9 million as of December 31, 2013. Cash and cash equivalents were $116.1 million as of
September 30, 2014, compared to $89.4 million as of December 31, 2013.  As of September 30, 2014 and December
31, 2013, cash and cash equivalents held by our foreign subsidiaries were $1.8 million and $2.0 million,
respectively. We anticipate that our overall expenses, as well as planned capital expenditures, may constitute a
material use of our cash resources. In addition, we may use cash resources to continue to fund our R&D efforts,
repurchase common stock or fund potential investments in, or acquisitions of complementary products, technologies
or businesses. We believe that our existing cash resources and anticipated funds from operations will satisfy our cash
requirements to fund our operating activities, capital expenditures and other obligations for at least the next twelve
months.  

Off-Balance Sheet Agreements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, investments in special purpose entities or undisclosed borrowings
or debt. 
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 We indemnify certain customers from third-party claims of intellectual property infringement relating to the use of
our products. Historically, costs related to these guarantees of indemnification have not been significant. We are
unable to estimate the maximum potential impact of these guarantees on our future results of operations.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our known contractual obligations (in thousands) as of September 30, 2014:

Payments Due by Period

Contractual

Obligations (1)

2014

(remaining

three

months)

2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter Total

Operating lease obligations $468 $1,773 $1,713 $1,409 $797 $ 61 $6,221

(1)
The contractual obligation table above excludes liabilities for uncertain tax positions of $2.7 million, which are
not practicable to assign to any particular years, due to the inherent uncertainty of the tax positions.  See Note 6 of
“Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” for further discussion.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The following discusses our exposure to market risk related to changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. We do not currently own any equity investments, nor do we expect to own any in the foreseeable future. This
discussion contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results could vary
materially as a result of a number of factors.

Interest Rate Risk.   As of September 30, 2014, we had cash and cash equivalents of $116.1 million. Cash and cash
equivalents consisted of cash and highly liquid money market instruments. We would not expect our operating results
or cash flows to be affected to any significant degree by the effect of a sudden change in market interest on our
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portfolio. A hypothetical increase in market interest rates of 100 basis points from the market rates in effect at
September 30, 2014, would cause the fair value of these investments to decrease by an immaterial amount which
would not have significantly impacted our financial position or results of operations. Declines in interest rates over
time will result in lower interest income and interest expense.

Foreign Currency and Exchange Risk.   Certain of our payables for our international offices are denominated in the
local currency, including the Euro, Yen and RMB. Therefore, a portion of our operating expenditures is subject to
foreign currency risks. We enter into foreign currency forward contracts to reduce the exposure to foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations on certain foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities. We do not use
foreign currency forward contracts for speculative or trading purposes. We record these forward contracts at fair
value. The counterparty to these foreign currency forward contracts is a large global financial institution that we
believe is creditworthy, and therefore, we believe the credit risk of counterparty non-performance is not significant.
The change in fair value of these contracts is recorded into earnings as a component of other income (expense), net
and offsets the change in fair value of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which is also
recorded in other income (expense), net. As of September 30, 2014, we had one outstanding forward contract with a
notional amount of $6.7 million. The foreign currency exchange rate movement of plus-or-minus 10% will result in
the change in fair value of this contract of plus-or-minus $0.7 million.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting
officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our "disclosure controls and procedures" as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) as of September 30, 2014, in connection with the filing of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q. Based on that evaluation as of September 30, 2014, our principal executive officer and principal financial
and accounting officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information
we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in rules and forms of the SEC and accumulated and
communicated to our management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended
September 30, 2014, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal
control over financial reporting.

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are subject to various claims and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business.
We accrue for losses related to litigation when a potential loss is probable and the loss can be reasonably estimated in
accordance with FASB requirements. During the reported period, we were not party to any material legal proceedings,
thus no loss was probable and no amount was accrued at September 30, 2014.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

We generate a large percentage of our revenues from a limited number of customers, so the loss of any one of these
customers could significantly reduce our revenue and results of operations below expectations.

Historically, we have had a small number of large customers for our core Design-to-silicon-yield solutions and
contributing significant Gainshare performance incentives revenue, and we expect this to continue in the near term. In
the year ended December 31, 2013, three customers accounted for 74% of our revenues, with Global Foundries
representing 33%, Samsung representing 24% and IBM representing 17%. We could lose a customer due to its
decision not to engage us on future process nodes, its decision not to develop its own future process node, or as a
result of industry factors, including but not limited to consolidation. For example, in September 2014, we announced
that we were unable to close two solutions contracts with one of our largest customers, which impacted our ability to
book revenue relating to preliminary work on these projects and the need to recognize previously deferred costs. The
loss of any of these customers or the failure to secure new contracts with these customers could reduce our total
revenue below expectations and further increase our reliance on our remaining customers. Further, if any of these
customers default, declare bankruptcy or otherwise delay or fail to pay amounts owed, or we otherwise have a dispute
with any of these customers, our results of operations would be negatively affected in the short term and possibly the
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long term. These customers may seek to renegotiate pre-existing contractual commitments due to adverse changes in
their own businesses or, in some cases, take advantage of contractual provisions that permit the suspension of
contracted work for some period if their business experiences a financial hardship, which would harm our operating
results. In particular, these events could cause significant fluctuations in results of operations because our expenses are
fixed in the short term and it takes us a long time to replace customers or reassign resources.

Decreases in wafer volumes at our customers’ manufacturing sites or the volume of ICs that some of our
customers are able to sell to their customers would cause our Gainshare performance incentives revenue to suffer.

Our Gainshare performance incentives revenue is largely determined by wafer volumes at manufacturing sites covered
by our contracts and, in some cases, the volume of an IC product that our customer is able to sell to its customers.
Both of these factors are outside of our control. Further, some of our manufacturing customers’ business is largely
dependent on single-source customers. If those customers reduce orders, consolidate and/or otherwise move the orders
to manufacturing facilities not covered by our contracts, or suspend its manufacturing at covered facilities for any
reason, including consolidation, our Gainshare revenue will decrease. Reduced demand for semiconductor products
decreases the volume of wafers and, in some cases, products our customers are able to sell, which would also directly
decrease our Gainshare revenue. Also, our customers may unilaterally decide to implement changes to their
manufacturing processes during the period that is covered by Gainshare, which could negatively affect yield results
and our revenue. Since we currently work on a small number of large projects at a specified manufacturing sites and,
in some cases, on specific IC products, our results of operations are adversely affected by negative changes at those
sites or in those products. For example, if wafer orders from sites covered by our contracts are not secured by our
customers, if an end product does not achieve commercial viability, if a process line or, in some cases, a specific
product, do not achieve significant increases in yield or sustain significant volume manufacturing during the time we
receive Gainshare, revenues associated with such volumes or products would be negatively impacted. This could
significantly reduce our revenue and results of operations below expectations. In addition, if we work with two
directly competitive manufacturing facilities or products, volume in one may offset volume, and thus any of our
related Gainshare, in the other facility or product.
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If semiconductor designers and manufacturers do not continue to adopt, or they significantly delay adoption of,
our Design-to-silicon-yield solutions, our revenues will suffer.

If semiconductor designers and manufacturers do not continue to adopt our Design-to-silicon-yield solutions, both as
currently comprised and as we may offer them in the future, our revenues will decline. We may not be successful if
we do not continue to enter into agreements with existing customers and new customers that cover a larger number of
IC products and processes and manufacturing facilities. If we do not continue to develop customer relationships with
companies that are integrated device manufacturers (“IDMs”), fabless semiconductor companies, and foundries, as well
as system manufacturers, the market acceptance of our solutions will suffer. Factors that may limit adoption of our
Design-to-silicon-yield solutions by semiconductor companies include:

•our existing and potential customers’ delay in their adoption of the current or next process technology;

•
IDMs of logic ICs discontinuing or significantly cutting back their investment in the development of new process
technology as a result of a shift to a model of outsourcing a larger proportion, or all, of the mass production of their
ICs;

•our inability to keep pace with the rapidly evolving technologies and equipment used in the semiconductor design
and manufacturing processes;

•our customers’ failure to achieve satisfactory yield improvements using our Design-to-silicon-yield solutions;

•the lack of proven results with new technologies and solutions that we may develop;

•fewer processes being developed at our customers and, therefore, a reduction in the potential impact our solutions
can add at any single customer; and

•our inability to develop, market, or sell effective solutions that are outside of our traditional logic focus of
manufacturing process solutions.

The semiconductor market is volatile and unpredictable and is exacerbated by economic uncertainty, which limits
our ability to forecast our business and could negatively impact our results of operations.

The semiconductor industry historically has been volatile with up cycles and down cycles, due to sudden changes in
customers’ manufacturing capacity requirements and spending, which depend in part on capacity utilization, demand
for customers’ IC products by consumers, inventory levels relative to demand, and access to affordable capital. As a
result of the various factors that affect this volatility, the timing and length of any cycles can be difficult to predict.
Economic uncertainty exacerbates negative trends in consumer spending and can cause some of our customers to
delay or refrain altogether from entering into new engagements, licensing new or additional software products, or
renewing maintenance and support for existing licensed software. Difficulties in obtaining capital and deteriorating
market conditions may also lead to the inability of some customers to obtain affordable financing for other purchases,
which could tie up funds otherwise budgeted for purchases of our solutions and technologies. This could negatively
affect our revenues and make it challenging for us to forecast our operating results, make business decisions, and
identify the risks that may affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Customers with liquidity
issues may also lead to additional bad debt expense.
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Our solution implementations may take longer than budgeted, which could cause us to lose customers and may
result in adjustments to our operating results.

Our solution implementations require a team of engineers to collaborate with our customers to address complex yield
loss issues by using our software and other technologies. We must estimate the amount of resources needed to
complete an existing solution implementation in order to estimate when the engineers will be able to commence a new
solution implementation. In addition, our accounting for solution implementation contracts, which generate fixed fees,
sometimes require adjustments to profit (loss) based on revised estimates during the performance of the contract.
These adjustments may have a material effect on our results of operations in the period in which they are made. The
estimates giving rise to these risks, which are inherent in fixed-price contracts, include the forecasting of costs and
schedules, and contract revenues related to contract performance.
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It typically takes us a long time to enter into agreements for new engagements with our customers, to sell our
unique solutions to new customers and into new markets, and that can result in uncertainty and delays in
generating revenues.

The timing and length of negotiations required to enter into agreements with our customers is difficult to predict.
Further, our customers sometimes delay starting negotiations until they begin developing a new process, need to insert
a new product, or experience specific yield issues. This means that on occasion we have, and may continue to begin
providing technology and services under preliminary documentation before executing the final contract. In these
cases, we could not recognize revenue and would defer associated costs until execution of the final contract, which, if
significant, could negatively impact our results of operations in the periods before we execute the final contract.
Further, if we were to incur significant effort and then fail to enter into a final contract, we would have to write-off
such deferred costs in the period in which the negotiations ended, which would decrease our gross margin and could
result in significant operating losses. For example, in September 2014, we announced that we were unable to close
two solutions contracts with one of our largest customers, which impacted our ability to book revenue relating to
preliminary work on these projects and the need to recognize previously deferred costs which caused us to miss our
expectations for the third quarter of 2014. Also, some of our new products may not have proven results and our
Gainshare performance incentives business model is unique and unfamiliar to new customers. Any of these factors
could result in a long sales cycle. On-going negotiations and evaluation projects for new products, with new customers
or in new markets may not result in significant revenues for us if we are unable to close new engagements on terms
favorable to us, in a timely manner, or at all. Unexpected delays in our sales cycle could cause our revenues to fall
short of expectations. 

If we are not able to attract, retain, motivate, and strategically locate talented employees, including some key
executives, our business may suffer.

Our success and competitiveness depend on our ability to attract, retain, motivate, and strategically locate in our
offices around the globe, talented employees, including some of our key executives. Achieving this objective may be
difficult due to many factors, including fluctuations in global economic and industry conditions, changes in our
management or leadership, the hiring practices at our competitors or customers, cost reduction activities, and the
effectiveness of our compensation programs, including equity-based programs. Further, we have had, and expect to
continue to have, difficulty in obtaining visas permitting entry for some of our employees that are foreign nationals
into the United States, and delays in obtaining visas permitting entry into other key countries, for several of our key
personnel, which disrupts our ability to strategically locate our personnel. If we lose the services of any of our key
executives or a significant number of our engineers, it could disrupt our ability to implement our business strategy. If
we do not successfully attract, retain, and motivate key employees, including key executives, we may be unable to
realize our business objectives and our operating results may suffer.

If we do not effectively manage, support, and safeguard our worldwide information systems, and integrate recent
and planned growth, our business strategy may fail.
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We have experienced in the past, and may experience in the future, interruptions in our information systems on which
our global operations depend. Further, we may face attempts by others to gain unauthorized access through the
Internet to our information technology systems, to intentionally hack, interfere with, or cause physical or digital
damage to or failure of such systems (such as significant viruses or worms), which attempts we may be unable to
prevent. We could be unaware of an incident or its magnitude and effects until after it is too late to prevent it and the
damage it may cause. The theft, unauthorized use, or a cybersecurity attack that results in the publication of our trade
secrets and other confidential business information as a result of such an incident could negatively affect our
competitive position, the value of our investment in product or research and development, and third parties might
assert against us or our customers claims related to resulting losses of confidential or proprietary information or
end-user data and/or system reliability. In any such event, our business could be subject to significant disruption, and
we could suffer monetary and other losses, including reputational harm. In addition, we must frequently expand our
internal information system to meet increasing demand in storage, computing and communication. Our internal
information system is expensive to expand and must be highly secure due to the sensitive nature of our customers’
information that we transmit. Building and managing the support necessary for our growth places significant demands
on our management and resources. These demands may divert these resources from the continued growth of our
business and implementation of our business strategy. Further, we must adequately train our new personnel, especially
our client service and technical support personnel, to effectively and accurately, respond to and support our customers.
If we fail to do this, it could lead to dissatisfaction among our customers, which could slow our growth.
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Our stock price has been volatile in the past, and our earnings per share and other operating results may be
unusually high in a given quarter, thereby raising investors’ expectations, and then unusually low in the next
quarter, thereby disappointing investors, which could cause our stock price to drop again and increase potential
dilution to our stockholders.

Our stock price has fluctuated widely during the last few years, from a low closing price of $0.97 per share during
March 2009 to recent highs, including the closing price of $26.41 per share during January 2014. A factor in the
volatility may be that our historical quarterly operating results have fluctuated. Our future quarterly operating results
will likely fluctuate from time to time and may not meet the expectations of securities analysts and investors in some
future period, which could cause our stock price to decrease again. A significant reduction in our stock price
negatively impacts our ability to raise equity capital in the public markets and increases the cost to us, as measured by
dilution to our existing shareholders, of equity financing. In addition, the reduced stock price also increases the cost to
us, in terms of dilution, of using our equity for employee compensation or for acquisitions of other businesses. A
greatly reduced stock price could also have other negative results, including the potential loss of confidence by
employees, the loss of institutional investor interest, and fewer business development opportunities. Also, significant
volatility in the stock price could be followed by a securities class action lawsuit, which could result in substantial
costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.

If we fail to protect our intellectual property rights, customers or potential competitors may be able to use our
technologies to develop their own solutions which could weaken our competitive position, reduce our revenue, or
increase our costs.

Our success depends largely on the proprietary nature of our technologies. Our contractual, patent, copyright,
trademark, and trade secret protection may not be effective against any particular threat or in any particular location.
Our pending patent applications may not result in issued patents, and even if issued, they may not be sufficiently
broad to protect our proprietary technologies. Litigation may be necessary from time to time to enforce our IP rights
or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. As a result of any such litigation, we could
lose our proprietary rights and incur substantial unexpected operating costs. Litigation could also divert our resources,
including our managerial and engineering resources.

Competition in the market for yield improvement solutions and increased integration between IC design and
manufacturing may intensify in the future, which could impede our ability to grow or execute our strategy.
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Competition in our market may intensify in the future, which could slow our ability to grow or execute our strategy
and could lead to increased pricing pressure, negatively impacting our revenues. Our current and potential customers
may choose to develop their own solutions internally, particularly if we are slow in deploying our solutions or
improving them to meet market needs. These and other competitors may be able to operate with a lower cost structure
than our engineering organization, which would give any such competitor’s products a competitive advantage over our
solutions. We currently face indirect competition from the internal groups at IC companies and some direct
competition from providers of yield management or prediction software such as KLA-Tencor, Mentor Graphics
(through its acquisition of Ponte Solutions), Rudolph Technologies, Inc. (“Rudolph”) (through its acquisition of Yield
Dynamics), and Synopsys, Inc., and process control software, such as Applied Materials, Inc. (through its acquisition
of the software division of Brooks Automation), BISTel Inc., MKS Instruments, Inc., Rudolph and Trancom
Technology, Inc. Further, ARM Ltd. and Synopsys (through its acquisition of Virage Logic Corporation) provide
standard cells in the physical IP space and Tela Innovations, Inc. provides software for standard cell synthesis, each of
which could compete with our Template™ technology solution. In addition, electronic design automation suppliers
provide alternative DFM solutions that may compete for the same budgetary funds. There may be other providers of
commercial solutions for systematic IC yield and performance enhancement of which we are not aware. Further, some
providers of yield management software or inspection equipment may seek to broaden their product offerings and
compete with us. In addition, we believe that the demand for solutions that address the need for better integration
between the silicon design and manufacturing processes may encourage direct competitors to enter into our market.
For example, large integrated organizations, such as IDMs, electronic design automation software providers, IC
design service companies or semiconductor equipment vendors, may decide to spin-off a business unit that competes
with us. Other potential competitors include fabrication facilities that may decide to offer solutions competitive with
ours as part of their value proposition to their customers. If these potential competitors change the pricing
environment or are able to attract industry partners or customers faster than we can, we may not be able to grow and
execute our strategy as quickly or at all.
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We face operational and financial risks associated with international operations that could negatively impact our
revenue.

We have in the past expanded and reorganized, at different times, our non-U.S. operations and may in the future
continue such expansion or reorganization by establishing or restructuring international subsidiaries, offices, or
contractor relationships in locations, if and when, deemed appropriate by our management. Thus, the success of our
business is subject to risks inherent in doing business internationally, including in particular:

•

some of our key engineers and other personnel are foreign nationals and they may not be permitted access to
certain technical information under U.S. export laws or by certain of our customers and may have difficulty
gaining access to the United States and other countries in which our customers or our offices may be located and
it may be difficult for us to recruit and retain qualified technical and managerial employees in foreign offices;

•greater difficulty in collecting account receivables resulting in longer collection periods;

•
language and other cultural differences may inhibit our sales and marketing efforts and create internal
communication problems among our U.S. and foreign teams, increasing the difficulty of managing multiple,
remote locations performing various development, quality assurance, and yield ramp analysis projects;

•

compliance with, inconsistencies among, and unexpected changes in, a wide variety of foreign laws and
regulatory environments with which we are not familiar, including, among other issues, with respect to
employees, personal data, protection of our IP, and a wide variety of operational regulations and trade and
export controls under domestic, foreign, and international law;

•currency risk due to the fact that certain of our payables for our international offices are denominated in the local
currency, including the Euro, Yen, and RMB, while virtually all of our revenues is denominated in U.S. dollars;

•quarantine, private travel limitation, or business disruption in regions affecting our operations, stemming from
actual, imminent or perceived outbreak of human pandemic or contagious disease;

•in the event a larger portion of our revenues becomes denominated in foreign currencies, we would be subject to
a potentially significant exchange rate risk;

•
economic or political instability, including but not limited to armed conflict, terrorism, interference with
information or communication of networks or systems, and the resulting disruption to economic activity and
business operations; 

International revenues accounted for approximately 62% of our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013
compared to 60% for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 68% for the year ended December 31, 2011. Thus, we
face the following additional risks:
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•

a downturn in the local
economies of our customers,
which could limit our ability to
retain existing customers and
attract new ones in such
locations; and

•

if the U.S. dollar increases in
value relative to local
currencies the cost of our
solutions will be more
expensive to existing and
potential local customers and
therefore less competitive.

Further, our employees and contractors include professionals located in various international locations, including
Shanghai, China, who provide primarily CV test chip-related services, and Ramallah, Palestine, who provide
software-related development, quality assurance, maintenance, and other technical support services for certain of our
software products. Political changes, including policies regarding export control, that affect these or other
international operations could disrupt or limit the work our employees and contractors are able to perform, and thus
negatively affect the range of services we are able to provide our customers or our cost for such services.
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Measurement of our Gainshare performance incentives requires data collection and is subject to customer
agreement, which can result in uncertainty and cause quarterly results to fluctuate.

We can only recognize revenue based on Gainshare performance incentives once we have reached agreement with our
customers on their level of yield performance improvements and volume results each quarter. Because measuring the
amount of yield improvement is inherently complicated and dependent on our customers’ internal information systems,
there may be uncertainty as to some components of measurement. This could result in our recognition of less revenue
than expected. In addition, any delay in measuring revenue attributable to Gainshare could cause all of the associated
revenue to be delayed until the next quarter. Since we currently have only a few large customers and we are relying on
Gainshare as a significant component of our total revenues, any delay could significantly harm our quarterly results.

Changes in the structure of our customer contracts, including the mix between fixed and variable revenue and the
mix of elements, including perpetual and term-based licenses, can adversely affect the amount and timing of our
total revenues.

Our long-term success is largely dependent upon our ability to structure our future customer contracts to include a
larger Gainshare performance incentives component relative to the fixed fee component. We typically recognize the
fixed fee component earlier than the Gainshare component so if we are successful in increasing the Gainshare
component of our customer contracts, we will experience an adverse impact on our operating results in the short term
as we reduce the fixed fee component. Due to acquisitions and expanded business strategies, the mix of elements in
some of our contracts has changed recently and the relative importance of the software component in some of our
contracts has increased. We have experienced, and may in the future experience, delays in the expected recognition of
revenue associated with generally accepted accounting principles regarding the timing of revenue recognition in
multi-element software arrangements, including the effect of acceptance criteria as a result of the change in our
contracts. If we fail to meet contractual acceptance criteria on time or at all, the total revenues we receive under a
contract could be delayed or decline. Further, if we mix term-based licenses with perpetual licenses, it will impact the
timing of the recognition of revenue from that customer. In addition, by increasing the Gainshare or the software
component, we may increase the variability or timing of recognition of our revenue, and therefore increase the risk
that our total future revenues will be lower than expected and fluctuate significantly from period to period.

We have experienced losses in the past and we may be unable to maintain profitability and incur losses in the
future.

Edgar Filing: PDF SOLUTIONS INC - Form 10-Q

66



We have experienced losses in the past and we may not maintain profitability if our costs increase more quickly than
we expect or if revenues decrease. In addition, virtually all of our operating expenses are fixed in the short term, so
any shortfall in anticipated revenue in a given period could significantly reduce our operating results below
expectations. Our accumulated deficit was $70.6 million as of December 31, 2013. We expect to continue to incur
significant expenses in connection with:

•
funding for
research and
development;

•

expansion of
our solution
implementation
teams;

•

expansion of
our sales and
marketing
efforts; and

•

additional
non-cash
charges relating
to amortization
and stock-based
compensation.

As a result, if we do not significantly increase revenues to maintain profitability on a quarterly or annual basis, we
would incur losses and our stock price could decline. Further, if we incur losses in the future, we may be subject to
further decreases to earnings associated with the corresponding impairment of our long-lived assets.

Inadvertent disclosure of our customers’ confidential information could result in costly litigation and cause us to
lose existing and potential customers.

Our customers consider their product yield information and other confidential information, which we must gather in
the course of our engagement with the customer, to be extremely competitively sensitive. If we inadvertently
disclosed or were required to disclose this information, we would likely lose existing and potential customers and
could be subject to costly litigation. In addition, to avoid potential disclosure of confidential information to
competitors, some of our customers may, in the future, ask us not to work with key competitive products, which could
limit our revenue opportunities.
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Our technologies could infringe the intellectual property rights of others, causing costly litigation and the loss of
significant rights.

Significant litigation regarding intellectual property rights exists in the semiconductor industry. It is possible that a
third party may claim that our technologies infringe their intellectual property rights or misappropriate their trade
secrets. Any claim, even if without merit, could be time consuming to defend, result in costly litigation, or require us
to enter into royalty or licensing agreements, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. A
successful claim of infringement against us in connection with the use of our technologies could adversely affect our
business.

Our ability to sell our products may depend on the quality of our support and services offerings, and our failure to
offer high-quality support and services could negatively affect our sales and results of operations.

Once our software products are integrated within our customers’ hardware and software systems, our customers may
depend on our support organization to resolve any issues relating to our products. A high level of support is critical for
the successful marketing and sale of our products. If we do not effectively assist our customers in deploying our
products, succeed in helping our customers quickly resolve post-deployment issues, and provide effective ongoing
support, our ability to sell our software products to existing customers may be negatively affected, and our reputation
with potential customers could be harmed. If our software customers have a poor perception of our support and
services offerings, they may choose not to renew software support and maintenance when the current period expires.
In addition, due to our international operations, our support organization faces challenges associated with delivering
support, training, and documentation where the user’s native language may not be English. If we fail to maintain
high-quality support and services, our customers may choose our competitors’ products instead of ours in the future,
which would negatively affect our revenues and results of operations.

Defects in our proprietary technologies, hardware and software tools, and the cost of support to remedy any such
defects could decrease our revenue and our competitive market share.

If the software, hardware, or proprietary technologies we provide to a customer contain defects that increase our
customer’s cost of goods sold and time-to-market or damage our customer’s property, these defects could significantly
decrease the market acceptance of our solutions. Further, the cost of support resources required to remedy any defects
in our technologies, hardware, or software tools could exceed our expectations. Any actual or perceived defects with
our software, hardware, or proprietary technologies may also hinder our ability to attract or retain industry partners or
customers, leading to a decrease in our revenue. These defects are frequently found during the period following
introduction of new software, hardware, or proprietary technologies or enhancements to existing software, hardware,
or proprietary technologies. Our software, hardware, and proprietary technologies may contain errors not discovered
until after customer implementation of the silicon design and manufacturing process recommended by us. If our
software, hardware, or proprietary technologies contain errors or defects, it could require us to expend significant
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resources to remedy these problems, which could reduce margins and result in the diversion of technical and other
resources from our other customer implementations and development efforts.

Failing to maintain the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting could impede our ability to
provide accurate and timely financial information, which could cause our investors to lose confidence in the
accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and could cause our stock price to decline.

In the past, we identified material weaknesses in connection with the evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Section 404”). These control
deficiencies resulted in adjustments during the 2009 audit to our consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2009, and during the 2010 audit to our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2010. In the future, our management may identify additional deficiencies regarding the design and operating
effectiveness of our system of internal control and we may not be able to remediate such deficiencies in time to meet
the continuing reporting deadlines imposed by Section 404.  Further, any costs of remediation may be substantial. A
material weakness in our internal controls could result in a material misstatement not being prevented or detected,
which could result in the need for a restatement of past periods. Moreover, our independent registered public
accounting firm may deem that we did not maintain, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting if we are unable to remediate deficiencies on a timely basis. If we fail to remediate material weaknesses, fail
to implement required new or improved controls, encounter difficulties in their implementation, or are unable at any
time to assert that we maintain effective internal controls, it could harm our operating results, cause us to fail to meet
our SEC reporting obligations on a timely basis, result in material misstatements, and our investors could lose
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and our stock price could decline.
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Changes in effective tax rates could negatively affect our operating results and we may not be able to use tax
credits before their expiration if we fail to have sufficient future income.

 We conduct our business globally and, as a result, are subject to taxation in the United States and foreign countries.
Our future tax rates could be affected by numerous factors, including changes in tax laws or the interpretation of such
tax laws and changes in accounting policies. Our filings are subject to reviews or audit by the Internal Revenue
Service and state, local and foreign taxing authorities. We cannot be sure that any final determination in an audit
would not be materially different than the treatment reflected in our historical income tax provisions and accruals. If
additional taxes are assessed as a result of an audit, there could be a significant negative effect on our income tax
provision and our operating results in the period or periods for which that determination is made. Any changes in our
geographical earnings mix in various tax jurisdictions, including those resulting from transfer pricing adjustments,
could materially increase our effective tax rate. Furthermore, we maintain deferred tax assets related to federal,
foreign and certain state tax credits. Our ability to use these credits prior to their expiration is dependent upon having
sufficient future income.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

On November 8, 2012, the Board of Directors adopted a program to repurchase up to $20.0 million of the Company’s
common stock on the open market over the next two years. As of September 30, 2014, 230,311 shares had been
repurchased at the average price of $17.56 per share under this program, at a total purchase of $4.0 million, and $16.0
million remained available for future repurchases. The current program will expire on November 8, 2014. In
anticipation of the expiration of the existing program, on October 21, 2014, the Board of Directors adopted a new
program, effectively immediately, to repurchase up to $25.0 million of the Company’s common stock both on the open
market and in privately negotiated transactions over the next two years.

There were no repurchases of our common stock during the three months ended September 30, 2014.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None. 

Item 5. Other Information

None. 
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Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Description

31.01 Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.02 Certification of the principal financial and accounting officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.01 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.02 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. 
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 SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

PDF SOLUTIONS, INC.

Date: November 4, 2014 By:/s/ JOHN K. KIBARIAN
John K. Kibarian
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Date: November 4, 2014 By:/s/ GREGORY C. WALKER
Gregory C. Walker
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)
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Exhibit

Number Description

31.01 Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.02 Certification of the principal financial and accounting officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.01 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.02 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. 
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